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    In two explosive thrillers, Scott McEwen has crafted fiction as stunningly real as the “raw and unforgettable” (Charles W. Sasser) military memoir he coauthored: the #1 New York Times bestseller American Sniper.

    First came Sniper Elite: One-Way Trip, the novel that ­introduced Special Ops hero Gil Shannon, who needs only a .308 Remington Modular sniper rifle to do the job. Shannon and his renegade team return in Target America, with the all-too-real premise of a chilling terrorist threat uncontainable by normal means. That’s when the SEALs and Delta Force warriors go to work—silently and invisibly stopping destruction in its tracks, annihilating the ­killers that you may never even know had intended to ­destroy America and everything for which it stands.

    “Finally, a military novel that pays attention to detail and tells a great story—rarely do the two go together. . . . Lace up your boots tight because you’re about to move out and learn what it’s like to be a SEAL sniper.”

    —Brandon Webb, former Navy SEAL, editor of
SOFREP.com, and New York Times bestselling
author of The Red Circle and coauthor of
Benghazi: The Definitive Report

    “Packed with action, Sniper Elite takes the reader into the shadow world of real military operations. A great read!”

    —Dan Hampton, New York Times bestselling
author of Viper Pilot and The Mercenary

    “An unfiltered portrayal of modern warfare backed by complex yet compelling storytelling, this one hits the target.”

    —Publishers Weekly
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			This book is dedicated to the memory of Tyrone Snowden (Ty) Woods and Glen Anthony Doherty. Former Navy SEALs killed in Benghazi, Libya, on September 12, 2012. In the proud and storied tradition of the Navy SEALs they took the fight to an overwhelming number of the enemy in order to save dozens of American lives.

			They did not have to go, they went anyway.

			We will not forget your heroic acts, gentlemen, nor will we let others.

			Bravo Zulu!

			—Scott McEwen

		

	
		
			The only thing necessary for the triumph of evil is for good men to do nothing. 

			—Edmund Burke

		

	
		
			PROLOGUE

			US NAVAL STATION GUANTANAMO BAY

			It was mid-June, and it was hot. Naeem Wardak could not remember ever having been so hot, nor could he remember ever having been more miserable. He was a prisoner of war in the detention camp at Guantanamo Bay, where he had been held since his capture in the Waigal Valley of Afghanistan the previous fall. He had been charged as a war criminal for the rape of an American female POW, and since his capture at the hands of SEAL Team VI, he’d been interrogated dozens of times by the CIA, grilled extensively on his knowledge of Taliban activities in Afghanistan and elsewhere in the Middle East.

			Not being nearly as tough as he’d believed himself to be, Naeem had broken early in the softening-up process, unable to bear the strain of sleep deprivation and constant dehydration. Giving up hope of ever being found worthy in the eyes of Allah, he told the CIA men all they wanted to know, pathetically grateful for every hour of sleep he was permitted in exchange for the truth, for every cold bottle of orange soda, every meager meal. Toward the end, even the smallest of mercies had made him weep like a child in gratitude. Only after the interrogations ceased for good did his shame at last begin to catch up to him. Ultimately, he lost the will even to pray for forgiveness, certain that Allah had turned his back on him. And why shouldn’t he turn his back? Naeem had failed in every aspect of the jihad.

			With the blistering sun at its apex, he sat on his haunches, sagging back against the chain-link fence of his six-by-six outdoor “recreation” pen, watching the Chechen prisoner lie on his back in the rec pen across from his. The Chechen was a young Caucasian man from the Caucasus Mountains, where he’d been raised a Salafi Muslim to join the RSMB (Riyad us-Saliheyn Martyrs’ Brigade) at the age of twenty. The Salafi movement was virtually one and the same as the Wahhabi movement, of which Naeem was a member, and under either name, it was a highly puritanical belief system that proponed violent jihad against anyone outside of Islam.

			Neither prisoner much liked or trusted the other, but they were both bored beyond belief, and since both happened to speak the North Mesopotamian Arabic dialect, they often passed the outdoor rec hours with meaningless small talk.

			Alik Zakayev, the Chechen, turned his head with a smirk at Naeem. “Eh, have you heard the news?”

			Naeem scratched at his thick black beard. “What news?” he replied sullenly.

			“That American lawyer secured my release.”

			Naeem wished he could kick the Chechen in the face, knowing that he himself would undoubtedly rot in American captivity unless he found the courage to take matters into his own hands. “And how did he do that?”

			“There’s no proof I had anything to do with those bombings in Boston,” Zakayev said. “The pig Russians falsely accused me and turned me over to the CIA because of my ties to the RSMB.” He turned his head away again, draping an arm over his eyes to shield them from the sun and slipping his other hand into his orange trousers to scratch his crotch. “The Russians are pigs. I’m lucky the Americans have softer laws.”

			Naeem eyed him balefully. “When do you leave?”

			Zakayev took a moment to smell his fingers, and then scratched at his belly. “The lawyer said four or five days.”

			“Where will you go?”

			“Wherever they take me . . . probably back to Chechnya.”

			Naeem’s misery seemed to have no limit. Every time a prisoner was released, it was like another wall was thrown up around him. “And what will you do then? Return to the coal mines?”

			“Never to the fucking mines.” Zakayev sat up against the fence, pulling his knees to his chest and wrapping his arms around them. “But it’s true, I’m a dead man in Chechnya. I will have to leave there as soon as I arrive, or the pig Russians will have me done in.”

			“Then where will you go?”

			Zakayev darkened, his blue eyes narrowing. “Why do you want to know these things, eh? So you can whisper them to your CIA friends?”

			Naeem knew that Zakayev and the other prisoners distrusted him for having broken so easily, but he no longer possessed the energy even to feel ashamed. Instead, he shifted his gaze far beyond Zakayev’s pen to stare out over the sterile expanse of the base. It was now or never. Somewhere out there was a world beyond this living hell, a world he might get to see again if his courage held. He slipped a small, jagged piece of steel from the waistband of his trousers. It wasn’t much larger than a half-dollar coin, but it was big enough for the job he had in mind. He’d found it in the corner of his rec pen three days before, after an earthmover had been used to demolish a nearby guard shack earlier that same day. The broken piece of metal had popped off a steel truss and dropped into the rec area unnoticed.

			He had since taken time to file the jagged point to a needle-like sharpness against the floor of his cell during the night. Now he sat thumbing the point in silence while Zakayev watched. The nearest Marine sentry stood some fifty feet away in the shade of an outbuilding, with his carbine slung.

			“What are you going to do with that?” the Chechen asked, not yet grasping that Naeem was looking to take his own life.

			Naeem ignored him, putting the point against the side of his neck and drawing a deep breath.

			“Do it!” Zakayev hissed, his eyes dancing as he glanced furtively at the Marine. “He’s not watching!”

			Naeem pressed the point deep into the flesh over his carotid artery and jerked it across. A bright red spurt of blood arced from his neck, followed by another and another.

			“Yes!” Zakayev hissed triumphantly, slapping his leg. “Yes!”

			Naeem stood up and began to run in place, the blood spurting with more force.

			The Marine glanced their way, but at first he didn’t react to what he thought was just an exercising prisoner. A few moments later, he realized there was blood spurting from the prisoner’s neck and shouted for a corpsman as he sprinted toward the rec pen.

			Naeem grew dizzy and collapsed to the floor of the pen. His head thudded on the concrete, and he lay staring up at the bright sun, feeling it burning his retinas until all the world was blackness.
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			MEXICO, CHIHUAHUA, 
Early September

			Alik Zakayev’s palms would not stop sweating no matter how often he wiped them on his jeans. Being belowground again was putting him on edge. It reminded him of the Taldinsky coal mine in Siberia, where he had barely survived a cave-in ten years earlier, spending four days buried alive with six other men before rescue workers finally dug them out, all of them raving, half out of their minds with delirium and dehydration. He still had nightmares about it.

			The smuggling tunnel he was in ran one hundred feet beneath the US-Mexico border between New Mexico and Chihuahua State. It was over three thousand feet long, six feet high, and five feet wide, complete with a concrete floor, incandescent lighting, ventilation ducts, and a drainage system to pump out any gathering groundwater. Of the fifty-five migrant workers pressed into service by the deadly Castañeda cartel to work belowground for weeks on end, eleven of them had died during the five-month construction, and the rest were murdered upon completion to ensure its secrecy. The passage had been in service for almost fifteen months now, and so far more than one million pounds of marijuana had been smuggled through it into the United States.

			The tunnel was accessed on the Mexican side of the border from inside an industrial warehouse, but its genius lay in the exit point on the American side: it opened up into the space of an exposed corral where cattle were regularly loaded onto semi–tractor trailers for transport to a processing plant sixty miles to the north. On loading days, special trailers with trap doors in their bottoms would park over the tunnel’s opening, and the fifty-pound bales of marijuana would be loaded from below into modified forward compartments while the cattle embarked at the rear. After the cattle were off-loaded at the plant some ninety minutes later, the marijuana would be dispersed into waiting employee vehicles.

			Zakayev had been all too correct about being a marked man in his home country. Upon his release from Guantanamo Bay, he’d flown on a direct route to the capital city of Grozny in the Chechen Republic. Chechen officials took him briefly into custody for routine questioning. After his release, he went immediately to his brother’s house, where he learned that a black van had been parked across the street the entire night before with the engine running. This confirmed the worst. His next contact was with the Riyad us-Saliheyn Martyrs’ Brigade, which took him under its protection that same evening. Within a week, he was spirited out of Chechnya to Germany. There he received an intrepid assignment. Three weeks later, he arrived in Mexico posing as a tourist on a German passport obtained in Bad Tölz from a master Chechen forger working as a printer in the state of Bavaria.

			Zakayev’s American attorney had been correct to assert that Zakayev was not involved in the Boston bombings. He had never even heard of the Tsarnaev brothers before their faces were plastered all over the television. However, this did not mean he wasn’t part of the jihad, and no one knew this better than the Russian SVR (foreign intelligence service). Six months after the Boston attacks in April 2013, Russian police had snagged Zakayev in Moscow, where he’d been in the midst of pulling reconnaissance for a planned attack on the city’s subway system.

			Though the SVR had been unable to produce any actual evidence against him, it knew that he was a member of the RSMB, and so the agency concluded rapidly Zakayev could not have arrived in Moscow with any good intentions. Within forty-eight hours, they had revoked his visa, trumped up an ambiguous story about an alleged relationship with the Tsarnaev brothers, and promptly turned him over to the CIA as a gesture of interservice cooperation. Zakayev’s subsequent five-month stint in Guantanamo Bay had not only steeled his resolve to continue with the jihad but also served to switch the focal point of his disdain from the Russian Federation to the United States.

			Now he was deep below the border between Mexico and the US, only weeks away from striking the single greatest blow against Western democracy the world had ever seen. In sha Allah! God willing! It was a good time to be a Muslim, a proud time, a proud time to be a part of the jihad. Where Osama bin Laden had broken a cricket bat across the shins of the pig Uncle Sam, Zakayev and his RSMB compatriots were poised to bring him right to his knees, and the Western world would never again be the same.

			The Riyad us-Saliheyn Martyrs’ Brigade had been established in 1999 by a Chechen terrorist named Shamil Basayev, and though the brigade had briefly faded after his death in 2006, it suddenly reappeared in 2010, carrying out a series of suicide bombings in the Caucasus. By 2013, the RSMB had shifted much of its focus from Russia to the West in order to garner financial support from its Al Qaeda allies.

			Zakayev was the only Salafi in the tunnel tonight; the only Chechen. There were five Mexican Castañeda cartel members with him helping to move a seventy-five-pound bomb through the tunnel on a four-wheeled dolly cart. The Castañedas were blissfully unaware of what type of bomb they were helping to move, assuming that it was a conventional bomb similar to those used in the Boston attacks. They had no idea that it was a stolen Russian RA-115 “suitcase” nuke with a two-kiloton yield. If they had known this, they would have quickly killed the Chechen and taken the device for themselves, regardless of the money that Zakayev’s people had paid them for their help.

			One of the Castañedas spoke English. His name was Javier, and he had been working the tunnel since its completion. “We are exactly under the border now,” he said, “a little more than halfway across.”

			“Good,” Zakayev said pensively, increasingly eager to be out of the dimly lit tomb.

			Javier’s four helpers swore at the dolly as they wrestled to keep it rolling along. The awkward contraption did not have proper rubber wheels, and the large metal casters seemed to lock up every few feet, stymied by the tiny pebbles that fell constantly from the tunnel walls.

			Javier kicked the corner of the dolly to get it rolling again and grinned at Zakayev. “Do you know the other Chechen we took across last week?”

			Zakayev took his eyes from the bomb and stared at Javier in the shadowy light of the tunnel. “What other Chechen?”

			The Mexican pointed at Zakayev’s face. “A blue-eye like you. He arrived with a green case like this one. We had a better cart last week with better wheels, but someone up above took it away.” He shrugged. “Who knows why? In Mexico, things come up missing all the time.”

			“Did this other man give a name?” Zakayev asked.

			Javier wiped a bead of sweat from his brow. “No, he didn’t speak much at all. He was very serious all the time. A man of about fifty.”

			Zakayev knew at once who this other man had to be. “Kashkin,” he muttered, scratching his groin, where a nagging fungal infection continued to plague him. The fact he had not been informed that Kashkin had already crossed into the US with the other RA-115—both weapons purchased from a retired KGB agent—did not surprise him. Kashkin was a consummate loner and professional, and now that Zakayev knew he was involved, he realized that this entire mission was probably the old man’s brainchild.

			The tunnel lights dimmed and went out, throwing the passage into pitch blackness for three long seconds before they came back on again.

			“Is that normal?” Zakayev asked, feeling a cold sweat break out across his back.

			All five Castañedas stood watching warily up and down the tunnel.

			“No,” Javier said, whispering orders to his men in Spanish: “Armas arriba!” “Guns up!”

			The four men quickly unshouldered their AK-47s, two of them facing northward, two facing back the way they’d come.

			“What is it?” Zakayev whispered. “Why did the lights go out?”

			“I don’t know.” Javier drew a pistol from the holster on his hip and stood chewing the inside of his cheek, his obsidian eyes showing like black glass as he stared ahead up the tunnel. “It could be gringos to the north, federales to the south—or both—or nothing at all. We have to wait and see.”

			Zakayev got to his knees beside the bomb, threw back the tarp, and unlocked the lid on the footlocker-sized green aluminum box, pulling out a trigger mechanism attached to the RA-115 by what looked like an old-fashioned telephone cord. He flipped a switch on the side of the mechanism and depressed the trigger grip with all four fingers, holding it like a pistol against his leg. The green light on the side of the mechanism beeped once and then turned to red.

			Seeing this, the four men with AK-47s bridled uneasily, jabbering away at Javier in hushed Spanish.

			“What is that?” Javier asked, his eyes even more wary.

			“A dead-man switch,” Zakayev replied. “If I am killed, the bomb will detonate.”

			“Turn it off!” Javier ordered at once.

			“No,” the Chechen said quietly, locking eyes with the Mexican, his gaze set, ignoring the four AK-47s now trained on him from just a few feet away. “I will not be taken alive, and this bomb will not be captured. So for now, it’s as you say—we have to wait and see. If this is nothing, I will deactivate the switch, and we will continue the operation.”

			But Zakayev knew it was not nothing, and he began to pray silently to Allah, his ears tuned to the gathering silence.
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			NEW MEXICO,
South of Deming, on the Border

			Dressed in their assault gear, Federal Agent Christopher Hitch and a dozen other ICE agents (US Immigration and Customs Enforcement) stood in the dark over the tunnel on the US side of the border. Twelve men had been all that Hitch could muster on short notice after a Mexican informant had tipped him off about the tunnel, saying that a special shipment of some kind was coming across at midnight. He would have preferred double the manpower, but the limited window had given him less than an hour to put together a tactical crew. The local sheriff had arrived with a couple of young deputies, but local law enforcement wasn’t good for much more than securing the scene.

			The sheriff hitched his trousers up over his ample belly and stood with the heel of his hand resting on the pearl-handled butt of his revolver. “I advise you to wait, Agent Hicks.”

			“The name’s Hitch.”

			“My mistake.” The sheriff spat a gooey wad of tobacco juice onto the ground. “My advice is to get the authorities across the border in Chihuahua to secure the other end of this poop shoot before you fellas even think about goin’ down there. My daddy was a tunnel rat in Cu Chi back in ’68. He told some pretty gory tales about what can happen to a man down there in the dirty dark.”

			Hitch was unimpressed. “Yeah, well, this isn’t Vietnam, Sheriff, and I’m not giving the Mexican police a chance to warn these guys.” He turned to his men. “Lock and load. I’ll be the first man down.” He primed his MP5 and switched on the flashlight mounted within the fore stock.

			“Now, let’s think about this a minute,” the sheriff cautioned. “You people don’t even have night vision, for Jesus’s sake! Why don’t we just hide out up here and wait ’til the buggers come up? My God, man, you people could be walkin’ into an ambush down there!”

			Hitch was beginning to wonder if the sheriff might be on Antonio Castañeda’s payroll. There were rumors the drug lord had made him a lucrative offer through an intermediary. “I’ll be counting on you to look after things up here, Sheriff. You can handle that much, I assume?”

			The sheriff nodded. “Oh, we can handle it, but if you men get into trouble down there, you’re on your own, and I mean it. My boys aren’t trained for this kinda thing, and I’m too damn fat to be dangling myself over a bottomless pit in the middle of the night.”

			“No one’s asking you to do anything above your pay grade, Sheriff.”

			Nettled, the sheriff turned to his deputies, shaking his head and gesturing. “Let’s stand over here outta the way, men. We don’t wanna knock nobody down the mine shaft.”

			Hitch mounted the ladder, descending with the other ICE agents lining up to follow after him. “Keep six feet between each man.”

			Standing well back from the mouth of the shaft, one of the sheriff’s deputies shifted his weight uncomfortably. “How deep would you say that thing is, Sheriff?”

			“Gotta be a hundred feet or more,” the sheriff said. “I aimed my Streamlight straight down and couldn’t hardly see the bottom.”

			The deputy let out a low whistle. “You wouldn’t get me down there, not unless you dropped a grenade down it first.”

			The sheriff frowned. “That would kindly spoil the surprise there, Jeff.”

			The second deputy stood biting his thumbnail, looking around nervously. He’d been on the Castañeda payroll for the better part of eight months now, and he was more than a little worried that the tunnel’s discovery could lead to him being ratted out by any captured Mexicans. “Um, Sheriff, do you care if I smoke?”

			“No, Landry,” the sheriff said sardonically. “Why don’t ya build yourself a nice big bonfire yonder; let every drug smuggler in Mexico know we’re out here. Hey, you wanna use the flare gun in my trunk—or do ya think that might be a little obvious?”

			Landry cringed, realizing the sheriff must already be suspicious of him. “I asked first, didn’t I?”

			“That, ya did, son. That, ya did.”

			Agent Hitch was mindful of his footing as he descended the ladder, but the rungs were slippery against the hard rubber of his Vibram boot soles. Twice his foot slipped off, forcing him to grab onto the rung with the crook of his arm. The bulk of his gear made the going awkward, and he hoped the men above were having less trouble. Anyone who fell would take every man below him all the way to the bottom.

			After what felt like an eternity, he saw a dim light below, and his heart began to race. If the lights were on down there, someone was using the tunnel. He whispered up a warning about the light and continued down. Hitch arrived at the bottom a minute later and stepped from the ladder onto terra firma: a concrete landing with space enough to stack large quantities of product off to the side. A pile of nylon straps and cargo hooks told him that the smugglers were using a winch to pull the drugs to the surface.

			Looking south, the tunnel curved slightly to the east, reducing visibility to about eighty feet. An incandescent lightbulb burned every twenty feet or so, screwed into sockets attached to a long wire that must have been strung the length of the passage. Within two minutes, the rest of the ICE agents were on the ground and gathered tightly together at the foot of the ladder.

			One of the men bumped into a shoddy fuse panel on the wall, and sparks flew, throwing the tunnel into blackness. A few seconds later, the lights came back on by themselves.

			“What the fuck did you do?” Hitch hissed.

			“Nothing,” the agent answered. “I barely touched the damn thing. There’s no room to move down here.”

			Hitch knew they might have just screwed the pooch, but there was nothing to do now but press on. “Okay . . . shit.” He gripped the MP5. “I’ve got point. Gutierrez, you’re on my six. Be ready to give orders in Spanish when we run into these people. No one fires unless we’re fired upon. Look sharp now! Let’s go.”

			They moved out single file down the tunnel.

			 • • •

UP ABOVE, THE sheriff was leaning against the fender of his cruiser with his arms folded when a semi–tractor trailer came rumbling down the dirt road, gearing down and slowing near the entrance to the property. He stood up straight. “I’d say this is an odd hour for a cattle hauler to show up.” He spit another wad of tobacco juice. “Particularly when there ain’t no cattle here to haul.”

			Deputy Landry recognized the yellow rig at once, knowing the driver to be one of Castañeda’s men. “I’ll see what he’s up to.” He set off at a fast trot.

			“Hey, wait here!” the sheriff called, unsnapping the strap on his holster.

			But Landry kept going.

			The sheriff looked at Jeff. “Remind me to hunt us up a replacement for his stupid ass. That boy’s dumber’n shit.”

			Jeff grunted, knowing that Landry was on the take, but not wanting to be the one to tell.

			Seventy yards away, Landry was waving his arms to stop the rig as it pulled in. He jogged around to the driver’s side, recognizing the driver and grabbing the handhold to haul himself up onto the running board. “You gotta get the hell outta here, amigo. ICE is down there in the tunnel right now! Somebody called the feds and ratted the whole thing out.”

			The Castañeda man looked around wildly. Spotting the cruisers and ICE vehicles parked on the far side of the corral for the first time, he grabbed a Tec-9 machine pistol from his lap and sprayed Landry point-blank with a twelve-round burst of 9 mm fire.

			Landry flew off the running board, landing flat on his back with his neck and face blown apart. The Castañeda jammed the rig into gear and floored the accelerator, aiming for the cruiser where the sheriff and Deputy Jeff stood gaping.

			“Holy Christ!” The sheriff jerked a .357 from its holster, emptying all six rounds at the oncoming tractor trailer. Four of the bullets struck the windshield on the driver’s side, but the rig kept coming.

			Jeff drew his 9 mm Beretta and stood firing at the grill of the truck, while the sheriff skirted to the other side of the cruiser, dumping the empty shells from the cylinder as he moved. Jeff jumped aside as the rig zoomed between them and plowed into the cruiser, bashing it easily aside to roar on toward the ICE vehicles.

			The sheriff snatched a speed loader from his belt to reload the .357 with six Federal hollow-points, running after the rig as fast as his squat little legs could carry him.

			Jeff chased along after the cab on the passenger side, firing the last three rounds from the magazine into the front right tire. The rig crashed into the parked ICE vehicles and came to a halt. Jeff was fumbling to insert a fresh mag into the Beretta when the Castañeda bailed out on the passenger side, landing in the dirt before him to level the Tec-9 on Jeff’s belly, his eyes appearing flat and reptilian in the dim light.

			Jeff froze, the fresh mag jammed into the butt of his pistol with the bullets facing backward. “Don’t shoot me!”

			The Mexican cut him down and dashed toward the rear of the trailer.

			The sheriff was running up the driver’s side toward the cab when he heard the burst of fire that blasted Jeff’s guts open. He jerked to a stop, pivoted on his heel, and waited to see where the Mexican would show his face. Spitting tobacco juice, he called out, “Donde estás, cabrón?” Where are you, asshole?

			The Castañeda sprang out from behind the trailer, and both men fired at the same time. The sheriff’s hollow-point round struck the Castañeda right between the eyes to blow out the back of his skull, and the Castañeda’s four-round burst struck the sheriff in the belly, dropping him to his knees.

			“Goddamn!” the old man groaned in agony. “What I get for not wearin’ a vest.”

			He didn’t have a portable radio on him, and the cruiser was fifty yards away, which may as well have been fifty miles. He was in too much pain to move, bleeding out fast. He swiped at the blood pooling in his shirt and looked at his hand. Even in the night, he could see the blood was very dark, realizing he’d been hit in the liver.

			“Must be why it hurts so damn bad.” He rolled onto his back, tossing the .357 aside. “I shoulda taken Castañeda up on that offer,” he muttered. “I coulda been in Tahiti.”
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			DOWN IN THE TUNNEL

			Zakayev and the Castañedas hunkered near the walls on either side of the passageway, bracing for an attack.

			Javier ordered his men onto their bellies and covered them with a tarp. “Let them come as close as possible before you fire.” He knew that because of the crazy Chechen with his finger on the bomb, they would have to kill every cop coming against them in order to escape with their lives.

			Zakayev gripped the dead-man switch, keeping a wary eye on the Mexicans. He wasn’t worried about the RA-115 taking damage in a firefight. It was of Russian manufacture, awkward looking and ugly but built to take a genuine beating.

			Flashlight beams came dancing down the walls from the north.

			 • • •

AGENT HITCH SPOTTED what appeared to be a lump of cargo on the floor near the wall 150 feet down the tunnel. He held up a fist to halt the column.

			“Looks like they took off and left their shit.” He moved out again, determined to catch the smugglers before they made it back to the other side. It didn’t matter to Hitch how far down the tunnel they caught them, just so they grabbed them before stepping out of the tunnel on the Mexican side. Let their lawyers try to prove they’d been bagged south of the border.

			As they drew within fifty feet of the lump in the floor, Hitch made out the muzzles of the AK-47s sticking from beneath the edge of the tarp, stopping in his tracks.

			Javier shouted, “Fuego!” and the AK-47s opened up with a deafening roar.

			Hitch was struck in the face, arms, and torso, dead before he hit the concrete. Gutierrez and another agent went down at the same time, exposing three more agents to enemy fire. These three were also cut down before ever firing a shot. The seven remaining ICE men hit the deck and opened up with their MP5s.

			The two groups blasted away at one another with automatic fire at 50 feet, nearly point-blank range for any automatic weapon.

			The Castañedas’ ammo was old and corrosive, a mark manufactured in Korea during the midseventies, so the tunnel quickly filled with an acrid smoke, obscuring everyone’s vision. To make matters worse, a number of lightbulbs were shattered by ricocheting spall.

			When the guns finally fell silent, there were only four men still left alive on each side.

			Zakayev remained hunched behind the RA-115, with a death grip on the trigger mechanism.

			“Deja de disparar!” Agent Gutierrez screamed. “Cease fire!”

			“Regrésate!” Javier shouted from where he lay on his belly. “Go back!” He was amazed to still be alive and didn’t want to risk another hideous exchange of gunfire.

			“We’re going back!” Gutierrez said. “Just give us a chance to pick up our wounded.”

			“I give you one minute,” Javier shouted. “Then we fire again!”

			“Cálmate,” Gutierrez said easily. “Cálmate, amigo.” Calm down. He couldn’t see much through the smoke but could hear the Castañedas switching out their magazines over the ringing in his ears. There was nothing to be served by continuing the battle. Besides, he was pretty sure he was bleeding to death, hit in the brachial artery of his right arm.

			“We’re throwing away our weapons!” he called. “Just give us time to get the fuck out of here! De acuerdo?” Agreed?

			“Okay. De acuerdo,” Javier replied, satisfied the fighting was over and the Americans were leaving.

			Gutierrez told his men to throw away their weapons and struggled to his feet, bleeding profusely from the right arm. “I’m gonna need help,” he said to the others.

			The ladder was more than twelve hundred feet back the way they’d come.

			“Motha’fucker,” muttered the only unwounded ICE man, stepping over the bodies of their dead compatriots to slip Gutierrez’s good arm over his shoulders. “We just got our asses handed to us.”

			“Hitch was an idiot,” Gutierrez grumbled, glancing back at the body.

			“Goddamn glory hound,” added one of the others in disgust.

			Gutierrez saw one of the agents still gripping a pistol. “Put that weapon down!” he ordered. “You trying to get us killed?”

			The agent dropped the weapon as if it had suddenly burned his hand.

			“This fight is over—we lost! Now let’s get outta here while we still can.”

			 • • •

JAVIER REMAINED CROUCHED near the wall, bleeding from a shoulder wound. All things considered, he didn’t feel too bad about the firefight. He had just led a battle against the supposedly unbeatable Americans, and he had driven them back with their tails tucked. Now all he had to do was get the crazy Chechen to put away the bomb’s detonator so he could shoot him in the head. He waited five minutes after the gringos were out of sight, and then ordered his men to their feet. He walked up to Zakayev and stood looking down at him, where he remained hunched behind the bomb.

			“It’s safe now,” he said harshly. “You can put the detonator away.”

			Zakayev didn’t reply—didn’t even move.

			“Did you hear what I said?” Javier nudged him with the muzzle of the pistol. “It’s time to go. Put the detonator away!”

			The Chechen keeled over on his side, a single bullet hole in the center of his forehead. The dead-man switch clattered against the concrete.

			Before Javier could even blink, the RA-115 suitcase nuke detonated with a force of nearly two kilotons, vaporizing the Castañedas and the ICE agents—who were just arriving at the foot of the ladder—within a single microsecond. A microsecond later the surrounding rock was vaporized, the temperature at the center of the explosion reaching millions of degrees Fahrenheit. A few milliseconds after that, the earth and rock covering the explosion were heaving upward, compelled by a giant bubble of high-pressure gas and steam as the heat and expanding shock wave melted or vaporized still more rock, creating a molten cavity within the bubble. This expansion continued on for another few tenths of a second until the pressure within the bubble began to equalize with that of the outside atmosphere. Then, when it could no longer sustain the rate of the expansion, the bubble collapsed back in on itself, leaving a giant subsidence crater more three hundred feet wide and sixty feet deep.

			The tiny Mexican border town of Puerto Palomas was devastated by the shock wave that traveled through the alluvial plain to knock out all power not only there but also to the city of Deming. Ground tremors were felt as far away as Roswell, New Mexico. And forty miles north of the blast, the US Geological Seismographic Station at Cookes Peak registered a seismic event of 5.1 on the Richter scale.

			Though most of the blast’s radiation had been contained by the encapsulating earth and rock, the open shafts at both ends of the tunnel had allowed twin jets of fallout to blast ten thousand feet into the sky, resulting in a deadly cloud of radioactive dust and debris that was soon drifting eastward toward El Paso, Texas.
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			WASHINGTON, DC,
The White House

			“You still haven’t told me what the hell it was,” the president of the United States said to the director of Homeland Security. “Was it a meteor? An atom bomb? What? Why is it taking so much time to get information?”

			DHS director Merrill Radcliff was on the hot seat. They were standing in the hall outside the Oval Office flanked by numerous representatives from nearly all US security branches. The Joint Chiefs were there, the FBI, CIA, NSA, DOD—and of course, the White House chief of staff, the ever-present Tim Hagen, a distasteful young fellow whom Radcliff couldn’t stand.

			He drew a breath and held out his hands. “We just don’t know yet, Mr. President. It’s a very isolated, very remote area, and it’s taking time to get resources into—”

			The president cut him off. “Are you telling me you people still haven’t learned a damn thing from the Sandy and Katrina debacles—that you’re still not ready to react when something happens?” The question was very obviously not rhetorical.

			“Mr. President, we’ve learned a great deal from those disasters, but it takes time to get resources in place, to get things organized. We can’t just—”

			“You’re relieved,” the president said, shocking everyone present and turning to Hagen. “Get the deputy director of DHS into position to take over for Mr. Radcliff.” He then looked to the chairman of the Joint Chiefs, General William J. Couture, who was just stepping from the Oval Office, cellular phone in hand. “General Couture, the military will be in charge of handling this crisis from here on—effective immediately. Now, what do you need from me?”

			The jagged scar on the left side of Couture’s face made him a fierce and daunting presence, but he exuded an undeniable confidence. “Mr. President, I’ve already ordered a swift reaction team of army NBC specialists prepped and ready.” NBC stood for Nuclear, Chemical, and Biological. “They’re standing by at Fort Bliss in El Paso awaiting orders to move into the impact area and begin taking readings. All I need is your clearance, sir.”

			“Get ’em in there,” the president said. “If we’ve been attacked, we need to know now, not a few days from now.”

			“I’m afraid there’s more, Mr. President.”

			The president’s brow furrowed. “Go ahead.”

			“I’ve just been on the phone with General Cruz at Fort Bliss. All indications there are that this was a nuclear event, Mr. President, not seismic and definitely not meteorological. Radiation levels at the base are on the rise, and General Cruz has ordered the base to activate the nuclear defense protocols. I’m requesting permission to order every base in Texas to do the same, sir.”

			Feeling suddenly sick to his stomach, the president found himself glad to have taken Tim Hagen’s advice urging him to appoint Couture as chairman of the Joint Chiefs. Without Couture’s company in this moment, he would have felt completely rudderless. “Order every base in the country to do the same, General.”

			“If I may offer a word of caution?” the general said.

			“Of course.”

			“I don’t believe a national activation will be necessary at this time, sir. We should definitely put all bases on alert, but to activate the nuclear defense protocols at a national level would almost certainly cause widespread panic among the civilian population.”

			“But where there’s one bomb, General,” Tim Hagen interjected, “surely, there could be another.”

			Couture seemed not to have heard, his eyes fixed on the president. “Does the order stand, Mr. President?”

			The president considered Couture’s assessment of the situation and found the reasoning sound. “No, General. I think you’re probably right. For now, we’ll allow the situation to develop—isn’t that how you people in the military like to put it?”

			The general smiled. “Yes, sir.”

			“Very well then,” the president said, looking at Hagen. “Make sure the deputy director of DHS alerts the city of El Paso about the radiation levels, so their emergency personnel can take appropriate action.” He cast a disgusted glance at the humiliated Radcliff. “It’s apparently going to be some time before DHS and FEMA can get in there to help them.”

			Hagen was busy marking something on the electronic notepad that never seemed to be out of his possession. “I’ll make the call right away, Mr. President.”

			“Now, gentlemen,” the president said to all, opening the door to the Oval Office, “I need to see the directors of the FBI, CIA, and the NSA. I want to make sure everyone’s on the same page moving forward. After you, gentlemen.”

			The three directors filed past the president into the Oval Office, and everyone else moved off down the corridor—everyone but Couture, Hagen, and a pair of Secret Service agents.

			After Hagen finished writing, he slipped the stylus into the side of the notepad and turned to reach for the knob on the Oval Office door.

			To his nearly infinite disbelief, the towering Couture reached out and grabbed him by the necktie, shoving him up against the wall, his merciless gray eyes boring into him.

			“If you ever contradict me again, I’ll break your goddamn neck! Do you understand me?”

			Hagen felt his feet coming off the floor, panic sweeping through him as he looked at the Secret Service agents, who merely stood watching as if made of stone. This was the first time in Hagen’s life that another human being had laid a hand on him in anger, and it was the most unnerving sensation he had ever experienced. “Yes, sir,” he croaked, feeling his bladder threatening to let go.

			Couture released him and set off down the hall with a curt nod to the Secret Service men, both of whom nodded back.

			Hagen stood straightening his suit, taking the time to regain his composure and to make sure that he hadn’t wet himself. “Thanks a lot for the help,” he said to the lead Secret Service man.

			The agent stared back at him, expressionless. “Help with what, Mr. Hagen?”
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			MOROCCO, CASABLANCA,
Rick’s Café

			Gil Shannon sat at a table in Rick’s Café drinking a cup of coffee. This was not the same Rick’s Café from the 1942 film classic Casablanca. The movie had not even been shot in Morocco. However, the café was modeled after the café from the Humphrey Bogart film, and since its doors had opened in 2004, it had become one of the city’s main tourist attractions.

			The largest city in Morocco, Casablanca proper was home to three and a half million people, catering to many different corporations from all over the world and boasting the largest artificial port in North Africa. It was a modern city that had kept in touch with its cultural past, but it was not without political and religious turmoil. Since 2003, at least seventeen suicide bombers had blown themselves up there, killing more than thirty-five people and injuring well over a hundred. Most of the bombers were known to have been linked with Al Qaeda.

			Gil was waiting for a Russian contact named Sergei Zhilov. A former member of the Russian Vysotniki (Rangers), Zhilov was now a freelance operator who prowled the African continent from Casablanca to Mombasa, Kenya, in search of mercenary work. The CIA had employed him shortly after the 2012 attack on the American diplomatic mission in Benghazi, Libya, to help root out Islamic terrorists in North Africa—specifically terrorists linked to a group called Al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula (AQAP), an extremist organization operating predominantly out of Yemen, though it had originally formed in Saudi Arabia in direct resistance to the al-Saud monarchy (the Saudi royal family). AQAP was known to be the primary force behind the attack on the American mission in Benghazi, during which two former US Navy SEALs, Glen Doherty and Tyrone Woods, had been killed on a rooftop by mortar fire while helping defend American diplomatic personnel.

			Gil had come to Casablanca at the behest of SAD (Special Activities Division of the CIA) director Robert Pope to hunt down and kill two AQAP operatives known to be hiding within the city. Though Gil had never known Doherty or Woods, he was a fellow Navy SEAL, and he had taken their deaths personally. So when Bob Pope had offered to bring him out of retirement and put him back into the game for the purpose of eliminating AQAP insurgents, he had been unable to turn down the offer.

			Gil’s wife, Marie, had not taken his decision to go back in very well. In fact, she’d more or less kicked him out of the house because of it. She told him he could either turn down Pope’s offer or find another place to live, because she could not go back to worrying about him 24/7 whenever he was not at home.

			Gil was sickened by the thought of separation, but he just wasn’t ready to give up the life of an operator, so he had kissed her and left the house, with tears welling in his eyes.

			The CIA had not been permitted its own in-house operators since the Cold War, so at Pope’s “suggestion,” Gil was hired by a PMC (private military company) called Obsidian Optio Inc. Obsidian held security contracts with the CIA all over the world, and this made it easy for Gil to move around without drawing attention. Another benefit to being officially employed in the private sector was that he was well paid, even though he did virtually no work for Obsidian itself. In 1989 the United Nations Mercenary Convention strictly forbid governments from contracting of mercenaries; however, countries sidestepped this technicality by never referring to the mercenaries they hired as mercenaries. They were “security specialists.”

			Sergei Zhilov entered the café dressed in khaki trousers and a maroon T-shirt. He was a big man, with reddish hair and green eyes, knotted muscles in his neck, shoulders, and arms, and he was sweating like he’d just come from a dead lift competition.

			Gil raised a hand to get his attention, and he came to sit at the table.

			“Can I get you a cup of coffee?” Gil had blue eyes and sandy blond hair that he kept cut high and tight in military fashion.

			Zhilov shook his head. “That I don’t drink,” he remarked in a gravelly voice, resting his arms on the table, the veins in his forearms bulging like power cords beneath the skin. “Bad for digestion.”

			“More for me then.” Gil took a drink of his coffee and set down the cup. It was a fine white coffee cup bearing the inscription “Rick’s Café.” “So have you found them?”

			Zhilov nodded. “They’ve rented a house near the old Medina.” The Medina was the old Arab quarter of the city, full of markets and tourists anxious to haggle with the vendors. “They must have problems with money,” Zhilov added. “The place is a toilet.”

			“You’re sure it’s them, though, you’ve seen them?”

			Zhilov nodded again, signaling to a waiter for a glass of water by tipping his big hand toward his mouth. “They come and go without worry. They buy food and eat in the street like there is no danger. They’re watchful, but they feel secure. I can see.”

			“Are they armed?”

			“I think yes.” Zhilov wiped the sweat from his face with his hand. “They wear jackets, and it’s too hot for that, so I think yes.”

			“How did you find them?”

			Zhilov shrugged. “I ask the Jews. The Jews know everything in this city.”

			Gil narrowed his gaze. “What Jews?”

			Zhilov thumbed casually over his shoulder, as if the people in question might be standing in the doorway behind him. “Those goddamn guys with Mohave.”

			LX Mohave was another American-owned PMC, one that focused primarily on intelligence and cryptographic technologies, and the company was known to hire former Israeli Mossad agents.

			Gil’s eyes narrowed. “You were talking with Mohave about my mission?”

			“No,” Zhilov said irritably. “Why would I talk to them about you? They don’t care about you. I was talking to them about these goddamn guys you wanted me to find.” He snatched the glass of water from the waiter’s hand as he arrived, gulping it down. “Another,” he said, shoving the glass back into his hand and waving him away.

			“Hey, Sergei,” Gil said, “I need to know if Mohave knows about my mission here. It’s extremely important.”

			Zhilov leaned into the table, meeting Gil’s gaze. “Listen to me, you goddamn guy. Mohave doesn’t give a tough shit about your mission, okay? You got it? I don’t tell them nothing. These goddamn guys over there, they owe me favors, so I ask them. And I tell you these goddamn Jews, they know everything around here. Don’t ask me how they know, because I don’t care, and I don’t ask. All I care is that they know. See? That’s why your goddamn CIA, they hire me and not some other goddamn guy. They know I know who knows the shit. See what I say?”

			Gil chuckled and sat back. “Yeah, I see what you say. Can you show me where they live, these goddamn guys?”

			“You bet,” Zhilov said. “But first we eat. I know good place. Then we wait for dark. These goddamn guys over there, they’re watchful right now. They see your face, they gonna run because you look like what you are. Me, I look nothing like what I am. See? I can go anywhere in the daylight, but you, you goddamn guy . . .” He shook his head. “You look like a Yankee killer. They see you, they run. So you trust me. I know Casablanca. I know how to get you close to these goddamn guys. But first we eat.”

			Gil sat watching him across the table. “You fought in Chechnya, right?”

			Zhilov rolled his eyes and shook his head. “Don’t ask me about Chechnya, Yankee. I don’t want to remember. Those goddamn guys with the Martyrs’ Brigade . . .” He shook his head again. “Salafi fanatics, they make these goddamn guys you’re hunting look like girl who suck penis for a living.” He laughed. “That I tell you for free, you goddamn Yankee. Now, you ready to eat yet or what?”

			Gil smiled and stood up from the table. “I got a feelin’ I’m gonna regret it, but yeah, I’m ready.”

			Zhilov got to his feet. “Come on. I show you good place for last meal.” He clapped Gil on the back, laughing uproariously as if it were the funniest thing he had ever heard.

			Gil smiled without humor, watching the Russian guardedly. “I’m glad we never had to fight you people.”

			Zhilov laughed some more. “Me too! You goddamn Yankees still think you playing cowboys and Indians!”
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			MOROCCO, CASABLANCA,
The Old Medina

			Abdu Bashwar was a thirty-two-year-old soldier of Allah, and though he had yet to personally kill another human being, he had participated in the attack on the CIA annex in Benghazi as a spotter for the mortar team that bombarded the building. His compatriot Cesar Koutry was a twenty-nine-year-old deserter from the Saudi Arabian army who had spent the last seven years of his life designing bomb vests and other explosive devices for AQAP insurgents.

			Koutry’s dream was the total overthrow of the al-Saud ­monarchy—which was greatly supported by the United States—and to one day return to a Saudi Arabia governed solely by Sharia law. In Koutry’s world, Saudi Arabian oil would be sold only to other Muslim nations, and the profits would belong to the people—not to any so-called royal family.

			They had arrived in Casablanca the month before with orders to begin preparations for a renewed insurgency in Morocco. With the recent influx of international businesses, Western influence was growing, and as a result, Morocco was beginning to experience a slight resurgence in both Christianity and Judaism. Though Islam was the official legal religion, the Moroccan constitution did allow for freedom of belief—so long as non-Muslims did not attempt to convert Muslims to their own religions. To do so was considered a crime, but most Christian and Jewish missionaries ignored the law.

			AQAP had decided that it was again time to make Westerners less comfortable in Casablanca. The last significant terrorist attack there had taken place in 2007, when two brothers blew themselves up in front of the American Consulate. Things had been comparatively quiet since then, with the brief exception of the Arab Spring protests that took place during 2011 and 2012.

			Koutry sat in a beat-up chair surfing through the channels on the television until at last he yawned and tossed aside the remote. “There’s nothing to watch.”

			Bashwar sat at the table behind him eating a late supper. “There has to be a soccer game.”

			“I’m sick of soccer.” Koutry glanced over his shoulder. “Where is Izaan? The little turd is late.”

			“He’s always late,” Bashwar answered through a mouthful of couscous. “This isn’t new.”

			“I think we need a new contact. That kid is a little stupid for this kind of work.”

			“He’s all we’ve got right now. I’ve already asked for another.”

			The door burst open, and sixteen-year-old Izaan barged into the room, causing both men to nearly jump out of their skins. “The big man with red hair!” Izaan blurted. “He’s parked on the street in a black van. He has an American commando with him.”

			Koutry jumped up from the chair, looking at Bashwar. “I told you that fat Russian was trouble!”

			Bashwar gulped down a glass of water and wiped his mouth with the back of his hand; then he took a Czech-made pistol from beneath his shirt and got up from the table. “How do you know it’s an American commando?”

			Izaan shrugged. “He looks like one to me.”

			“Did they follow you here?”

			“No, Bashwar. They were already parked there when I came down the street.”

			Bashwar thumbed back the hammer on the CZ-75. “Why didn’t you keep walking instead of letting them see you come in here?”

			Izaan became frightened. “What have I done wrong? I only wanted to warn you.”

			Koutry stepped over and took the teenager by the arm, patting him down to find a cellular in his back pocket and tossing it to Bashwar. “You could have called to warn us.”

			“I didn’t think of it. I’m sorry.”

			Bashwar stood thumbing through the call list on Izaan’s phone, checking his messages and phone book for anything suspicious. After a moment, he looked up and said, “Kill him.”

			Izaan tried to jerk his arm free, but Koutry was too fast. He grabbed the kid around the head and gave his neck a vicious twist, breaking his spinal cord with a crunch and letting the body fall to the floor with the forehead thudding against the tile.

			“What did you find?” Koutry asked, putting out his hand for the phone.

			Bashwar tucked the phone into his pocket. “I didn’t find anything, but this house is obviously compromised, and there’s no way to be sure that fool wasn’t working for the enemy.”

			Koutry grew angry. “You had me kill a boy for no reason?”

			Bashwar shrugged. “Who else knows we’re in Casablanca? No one. But still there’s a Russian mercenary parked down the street—with an American commando.” He pointed at the body. “How else could that imbecile know he was an American commando? You said yourself he was too stupid for this kind of work.”

			Koutry straightened his shirt and stepped over the body, pointing his finger into Bashwar’s face. “Next time, you do your own killing.”

			Bashwar pointed the CZ-75 into Koutry’s face with the intention of making some kind of tough guy remark, but Koutry grabbed the weapon from his hand, knocking him backward over the chair and pointing the pistol at him.

			“Hear me well,” Koutry said quietly. “Until you’ve learned how to kill a man, you had better never point a gun at me again.”

			Bashwar nodded slowly, slightly concerned that Koutry might actually shoot him.

			Koutry let down the hammer and tossed the weapon onto the table. “Now we have to deal with the fat Russian and his friend. I think I’ll send them both to the moon.”
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			MOROCCO, CASABLANCA,
The Old Medina

			To Gil, the old Medina district looked like something out of a Jason Bourne movie, with its narrow streets and old houses built on top of one another, and all of them looking exactly alike to his eye. They were old stucco homes, most of them constructed around the turn of the twentieth century, before the French arrived to take the country under its “protection.” The street vendors had packed away their wares for the night, and the cobblestone alleys were relatively empty, save for a few parked cars and empty vendor carts.

			“A guy could get lost in the neighborhood.”

			Zhilov chuckled. “If you get lost in Casablanca, just walk toward the sea until you hit the coastal road. The sea is very big. Not even a Yankee can miss it.”

			Gil checked the side-view mirror, but all he could see was a wall. “I don’t think there’s a straight road in this entire district.”

			“This is the Anfa,” Zhilov said. “The original part of the city, before the French took over and tried to make the city look like Paris.”

			A teenager rounded the corner and seemed to check himself for a moment before continuing forward, stopping halfway down the short block and going into the house they were watching.

			“Do you know that kid?”

			Zhilov shook his head. “I never see him before.”

			“He seemed to know you.”

			Zhilov gripped the wheel, adjusting himself in the seat that was too small for him. “I cannot disagree.”

			Gil muttered an obscenity. “The op is blown. He’ll tell the hajis we’re out here and put ’em on alert. We should clear.”

			The Russian shook his head, his good humor gone now. “If we leave, they disappear. Then it takes weeks to find them again. I think to wait is good idea. When they come out, you shoot them, and I take you back to hotel for the rest of my money.”

			Gil drew the suppressed USP .45 from inside his jacket. “And suppose they come out blasting with automatic weapons.”

			Zhilov reached beneath his seat for a micro Uzi submachine pistol. “Suppose they do?” he said in his gravelly voice.

			Gil glanced around, feeling boxed in by the limited field of vision due to the curvy nature of the alley. There were almost no positions of cover. He knew they should clear the scene; that the situation was borderline untenable. But he also knew that Zhilov was right: Bashwar and Koutry would disappear to another safe house and would be ten times harder to reacquire.

			The Russian took a suppressor from under the seat and attached it to the muzzle of the Uzi. “We going in to get these goddamn guys or what?”

			Gil shook his head. “We’ll let the situation develop.” He glanced into the back of the van, which was crammed full of rolled-up carpets. “What is all that shit back there, anyway?”

			Zhilov shrugged. “Rugs rolled up. I steal the van from rug vendor other side of city.”

			Gil gave him a wry grin. “Weren’t exactly planning a fast getaway, were you?”

			“Listen, you goddamn guy. You want to unload the shit? You are my guest.”

			“Be my guest. We say be my guest.”

			Zhilov looked out the window at the house. “You say your way, Yankee. I say mine. I just want to kill these goddamn guys and get my money.”

			A few minutes later, a black van with its headlights off pulled passed them, stopping near the house three doors up on the left. The back doors opened, and a man stepped out holding a suppressed MP5 submachine gun. There were three more men in the back.

			Gil sat back in the seat. “What the fuck is this happy horseshit?”

			Zhilov sat back as well, though it scarcely made a difference in his case because of his bulk. “It’s those goddamn Jews I tell you about.”

			“Mohave? What the fuck are they doing here?”

			Zhilov looked at him. “To kill Arab terrorist, maybe?”

			Gil got ready to dismount the vehicle in case shit started flying in their direction. The boys with LX Mohave were well known for shooting first and never bothering to ask any questions. A softball-sized glob of what looked like modeling clay landed on the roof of the Mohave van with a heavy thud and stuck in place. Gil knew instantly that it was a wad of C4 plastic explosive molded around a timer-detonator, having seen the same kind of bomb used in Indonesia a few years earlier during a rooftop attack on a diplomatic convoy.

			“Sticky bomb—get down!”

			He and Zhilov squashed themselves as low as they could as the Mohave men rushed to dismount the doomed vehicle. The bomb detonated with a blinding white flash, catching the driver and one of the gunners inside, flattening the van and throwing the dismounting gunners through the air. The concussion spider-webbed the windshield of the carpet van and echoed through the alleyway.

			Like a giant bird dropping, a second glob of C4 landed in the street unseen among the stunned Mohave men struggling to pick themselves up. It detonated in another thunderclap of blinding light, and all three men disintegrated.

			Gil jumped out of the carpet van as a third glob of C4 landed on the roof. Zhilov remained in the driver’s seat, knocked unconscious by the concussion of the second blast. Gil rolled beneath the van, expelling the air from his lungs and covering his ears. The bomb exploded, and the load of carpet absorbed much of the pressure wave, but the chassis of the van was thrust violently downward on its leaf springs, and Gil’s head was briefly sandwiched between the exhaust pipe and the street. It felt like a mule kick to the head, and his internal combat systems were knocked off-line.
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